# Help Your SAVINGS GROW

Leader's Guide

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### **Table of contents**

Page	Contents
1	Introduction
2	Saving to build wealth
4	Savings accounts
7	Individual development accounts (IDAs)
8	Money market deposit accounts
9	Certificates of deposit (CDs)
11	U.S. Treasury investments
12	Saving for retirement
14	Saving for education
15	Investment risks and rewards
18	What is your net worth? (worksheet)
19	Learn more
20	Money Management materials

#### Introduction

The "Help Your Savings Grow Leader's Guide" is designed to prepare community advocates to lead trainings for colleagues, clients and community members. "Saving to Build Wealth," a companion brochure designed for adult learners of all skill levels, is available in Chinese, English, Korean, Spanish and Vietnamese. An adult learning curriculum with classroom activities and a PowerPoint presentation round out the program on personal savings.

Consumer Action, a national non-profit organization, formed the Managing Money Project to educate consumers about how to make wise financial choices. The free multilingual education program centers on money management, personal finance and credit topics.

Similar materials on a variety of personal finance and consumer topics can be found at our Managing Money website (www. managing-money.org). A list of those materials appears on page 20 of this publication.

For more information about Consumer Action, call 800-999-7981, visit our website (www.consumer-action.org) or e-mail us (info@ consumer-action.org). For more ways to contact Consumer Action, see the back cover.

#### Saving to build wealth

#### How can I create wealth?

One way to create wealth is to save your money and use it to buy wealth-creating assets—things you own that are expected to increase in value or earn money. Wealth-creating assets include stocks and bonds, and your home or other real estate. You can't build wealth overnight. You have to set realistic goals and work to accomplish them. A good first goal is to build a savings account for emergencies. An emergency savings account is money you set aside to cover your monthly expenses in case you lose your job or suffer a short-term disability.

#### What is the best way to build wealth?

To build wealth, consider starting a regular savings program in which you pledge to put aside a certain percentage of your income, such as 10% per year. Paying your mortgage is another way to build weath, because as you pay down your home loan, you build equity in your home. Home equity can be a significant source of wealth for homeowners. Also consider saving as much as you can in a tax-deferred retirement savings account.

#### How can I make saving money more automatic?

You can schedule automatic payday deposits that go to your savings account or individual retirement account (IRA). If your employer offers pre-tax savings opportunities, such as an employer-sponsored retirement savings plan, take advantage of it. Your contribution is deducted from your paycheck and many employers offer to match your contributions in whole or in part. Some employers offer "flexible spending accounts" that allow you to lower your income taxes by using pre-tax money to pay for child care or medical expenses that aren't covered by insurance. However, it is important to plan carefully before putting money in a flexible spending account, because you lose whatever money you don't use in the current tax year.

#### What are the biggest barriers to becoming wealthy?

High-interest debt—especially credit card debt—and "immediate gratification" purchases keep many people from saving.

#### Why should I save money?

Savings are important for emergencies and for future plans.

#### How much should I save?

Most experts advise that you try to save 10% of your earnings each year. If this is hard to do, start with a smaller percentage.

#### How much should I have in an emergency savings account?

In most cases, your emergency funds should equal three to six months of take-home pay for the family's primary breadwinner. Emergency funds can also be used for unexpected and expensive household expenses, such as car repairs or a furnace replacement. It's best to keep this money liquid, which means you can get your money quickly and easily when you need it.

## Where should I keep my savings if I might need the money in a hurry?

Some savings should always be available for emergencies. Money that is easily available is said to be "liquid." You can keep funds that you might need on short notice in a savings account, a money market account or even a short-term certificate of deposit (CD). After your savings start to grow, you may want to invest some of the money in stocks, bonds or mutual funds to help you achieve your goals. These goals might include college for yourself or your children, a car, a home or a vacation.

#### How do I calculate my net worth?

Your net worth is the total of your assets—property and possessions that you own—minus the total of your liabilities (money that you owe). Here is a simple example: John and Mary live in a house that is currently worth \$200,000. They have a car with a current market value of \$15,000, a savings account with \$20,000 in it, and retirement accounts worth \$80,000. Added up, their assets are worth \$315,000. They have a mortgage on their house of \$100,000 and the balance on their car loan is \$5,000, making their liabilities \$105,000. If you subtract \$105,000 (liabilities) from \$315,000 (assets), you find that John and Mary's net worth is \$210,000.

## Can tracking day-to-day spending help me develop a monthly budget?

Yes. Knowing what you spend now is the first step in creating a budget. A budget is a spending plan to help you forecast and control your expenses. To create a budget you need to know how much you spend each month, and compare that figure to your take-home pay. Once you have established a budget, you are in a good position to see what you can cut back on. You may find you have expenses that you can reduce or cut out entirely, such as a take-out breakfast. Many people find that a few small changes add up to big savings. If you spend less than you earn, you'll have some money to save.

#### What are financial goals?

Financial goals are personal benchmarks that you set for yourself throughout life. They often fall into short-term and long-term categories. Short-term goals are ones you would like to achieve in one or two years, such as finishing your education or buying a good used car. Long-term goals may take more time to reach—it might take five years or more to be in the position to buy a home, and much longer to save enough for a secure retirement or pay for your children's college education.

#### **Savings accounts**

#### What is a savings account?

Savings accounts are accounts at financial institutions designed to keep your money safe and help it grow. Savings accounts at banks and credit unions are insured by the federal government for up to \$250,000. The financial institution pays you interest on the money you have in a savings account. You can make deposits into your account and withdraw money when you need it.

#### What is a passbook savings account?

Regular savings accounts are sometimes called passbook accounts and usually have low opening deposit requirements. There may be a limit on the number of withdrawals.

#### Do credit unions offer savings accounts?

Yes. Credit unions are non-profit savings and lending organizations that provide services to members who have a common bond, such as working for the same company, living in the same community or belonging to the same church. Like banks, credit unions offer savings accounts (called share accounts) and other financial services. Credit unions pay "dividends" on accounts rather than interest. Credit union deposits often earn higher returns than those paid at banks. Deposits in federal and state-chartered credit unions are insured for up to \$250,000 through the National Credit Union Administration (NCUA).

#### What is interest?

Interest is the cost of using money. Your bank pays you interest when you leave your money on deposit. If you borrow money, you pay interest to the lender. Interest on savings is usually expressed as an annual percentage yield (APY)—the amount your money would earn if left on deposit for one year.

#### What is compound interest?

There are two kinds of interest: simple and compound. Compound interest is better because it allows you to earn interest not only on your initial deposit, but also on the interest you earn. In contrast, simple interest is calculated on the original deposit only.

#### How can I make my money grow faster but not risk losing it?

Generally speaking, the greater the risk, the greater the potential return. Savings options that carry no risk of loss pay low returns. Insured and relatively low-risk ways to save that pay a little bit more interest than a standard savings account include money market accounts, although they often have very high minimum balance requirements, and short-term certificates of deposit (CDs).

### I receive public assistance—is there a limit to how much I am allowed to save?

If you are on public assistance, there may be limits to how much you are allowed to have in your savings. For example, some programs set a limit of several thousand dollars on all your cash "assets," such as savings, stocks and bonds or life insurance. Before you start a savings program, check with your benefits counselor.

#### What ID do I need to open a savings account?

Most financial institutions require two pieces of ID, one with a picture on it, such as a driver's license. You will usually need a Social Security number to open an interest-bearing account. If you are not authorized to work in the U.S., but you need a number for tax purposes or to open an account, you can apply for an Individual Taxpayer Identification Number, or ITIN, from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). Visit www.IRS.gov and select Form W-7 (Application for IRS Individual Taxpayer Identification Number), or call the IRS toll-free at 800-829-3676 to request the form.

#### How much money do I need to open a savings account?

The amount required for an initial deposit varies. Some financial institutions require only \$1 to open an account—others ask for \$50, \$100 or \$500. You may use cash or a check to open an account.

## I tried to open an account but the bank said I have a bad record. What should I do?

When you open an account, your banking history might be verified with an account screening company such as ChexSystems. If you've ever had a problem with a checking account, such as closing your account without enough money to cover all outstanding checks, you could be denied an account. (Such information is kept on file for five years.) If you are told you cannot open an account because of the information, you have rights. If you believe the information that the denial is based on is incorrect, ask the bank how to contact the account screening company. If the company has incorrect information on file, you have the right to dispute it. If the information is correct, contact the bank you owe money to and arrange to repay the outstanding balance. Ask that bank if it can remove your name from ChexSystems after you pay. (This may not work, but it is worth a try.)

#### Why do some banks pay more interest on higher balances?

Tiered interest rates are an effort by banks to attract large deposits and to reward account holders who have higher savings.

#### Are Christmas Club accounts a good deal?

Christmas Club accounts, in which you set aside small amounts of money all year long to prepare for the holidays, can help you save moderate amounts for seasonal expenses. But don't expect to get rich off them—they pay only a very modest interest rate. The accounts can be a good alternative to using credit cards for holiday expenses because you can save up enough money to pay cash for all your Christmas shopping.

#### **Individual development accounts (IDAs)**

#### What are "individual development accounts"?

Individual development accounts (IDAs) are special sponsored savings accounts that help low-income families save money to pay for post-secondary education or job training, buy a home or start their own business. Contributions are augmented or matched by private and public institutions. Most participants in IDAs also take part in mandatory money management classes to help them repair their credit, create a budget and stick to their savings plan.

#### How can I find IDA programs in my area?

The Corporation for Enterprise Development has an online directory of individual development account programs nationwide. (See "Learn more" section.)

#### Money market deposit accounts

#### What are money market deposit accounts?

Money market deposit accounts (MMDAs), usually referred to as just money market accounts (MMAs), are interest-bearing accounts offered by FDIC-insured financial institutions and insured up to \$250,000. Account holders are allowed only six transfers or withdrawals, including three checks, per month. Insured MMA interest rates are usually higher than passbook savings rates, but come with high minimum balance requirements. If your MMA account dips below the required balance, you'll pay a stiff monthly fee.

#### What is a money market fund?

A money market fund is a mutual fund that invests in short-term debt securities such as U.S. Treasury bills. MMFs are not insured but tend to be stable because of the less volatile nature of the short-term investments they hold. The amount of interest they pay fluctuates, while the share price should always be \$1. MMF shareholders are

usually required to pay annual fees and other expenses, which can reduce the amount of interest earned.

#### **Certificates of deposit (CDs)**

#### What is a certificate of deposit?

Certificates of deposit (CDs), also called time deposit accounts, are a safe way to make your money grow. Most CDs are issued by banks and credit unions, but you can also buy them through brokerages. CD rates are usually higher than rates on savings accounts. You agree to leave your money in the CD for a specified period (the term), and in return you earn favorable interest rates. Terms vary from one month to 5 years. (In general, the longer you leave your money on deposit, the higher the interest rate you'll earn.) Typically the funds are reinvested after the term is reached, unless you specify otherwise. There usually are penalties for early withdrawal. CD rates vary widely. You can compare current rates online at the Bankrate website (www.bankrate.com).

#### Do CDs allow additional deposits?

Most CDs do not allow additional deposits during the current term. However, when the CD matures, you can purchase a new CD for any amount.

#### What is a "jumbo" CD?

Jumbo CDs have very high minimum deposit requirements (\$100,000 is common) and, because of this, they pay higher interest rates.

#### Is there a downside to investing in CDs?

Yes. While CDs pay a little more interest than your typical savings account, your money is off limits until the CD matures. If you cash out a CD before the term ends, you'll pay a penalty. Another downside is that when you buy a CD, you are locking in an interest rate for an extended period of time. If CD interest rates rise while your money is tied up, you will miss out on a more favorable rate of

interest. "Bump-up" CDs were developed by banks to address this issue, however they are not always a good deal because you can get stuck with a lower-than-average interest rate if rates don't go up. You can also use a technique called "laddering" to protect yourself from losing out when interest rates rise.

#### How do you "ladder" CD purchases?

CD laddering is a technique used by investors that is similar to "dollar-cost averaging" with stocks. Instead of investing your entire nest egg in one CD, you can buy CDs of different maturities. For example, if you had \$20,000 to invest, you could divide it evenly among a six-month, one-year, two-year and five-year CD. If interest rates rise, you'll be able to reinvest your six-month and one-year CDs at a higher rate sooner. If rates go down, you'll still get higher rates on your longer-term CDs than if you had invested all your money in shorter-term CDs.

#### What are "bump-up" and "step-up" CDs?

Bump-up CDs give you the right to request a rate increase if interest rates rise. Depending on the terms, you can make one or two adjustments during the life of the CD. You may find that banks offer a lower rate of interest on bump-up CDs than on standard CDs with the same maturity, or term. If interest rates don't rise, you might be stuck with a lower interest rate for the entire term. Step-up CDs periodically step up to higher rates at specific intervals, but are rare in the marketplace today.

#### What is a "callable" CD?

Callable CDs are a good deal for the bank and a bad deal for you. On callable CDs, the bank is allowed to "call," or terminate, your CD when interest rates fall if the bank is paying you more than the going rate.

#### Are CDs insured by the government like bank accounts are?

Yes. CDs sold by banks and some brokerage companies are insured by the FDIC up to \$250,000 per depositor.

## Are certificates of deposit (CDs) good for money I need in the short-term?

CDs usually pay higher interest rates than a regular savings account because you agree to leave your money in the account for a certain length of time. If you withdraw your money early, you forfeit some of the interest. Money in CDs is not as "liquid" as funds in a savings account. Even though you can purchase CDs with terms as short as one month, if you are saving to buy something in two months, it might be more of a hassle than it's worth to invest in a CD. If you are saving for a purchase that you will make in a year or two, CDs can be a safe place to store your money until then.

#### **U.S. Treasury investments**

## Why does the government sell investments such as savings bonds and Treasury bills?

The government sells securities to the public to raise money to run the federal government and pay its debts. When you buy Treasury securities you are making a loan to the federal government.

#### Are government securities a safe investment?

Yes. Treasury securities are safe and secure investments because the U.S. government guarantees that interest and principal payments will be paid on time.

#### What are U.S. savings bonds?

Savings bonds are U.S. Treasury securities that can be purchased in denominations ranging from \$50 to \$10,000. They earn interest for up to 30 years, but after one year from their issue date you can cash them for their current value. Interest on savings bonds varies, but you are always guaranteed a minimum return. Interest income is subject to federal income tax but not state or local income taxes. You can defer paying federal income tax on the interest until you cash in

the bonds. Savings bonds are payable only to the person to whom they are registered.

You can buy Series EE or Series I (inflation-adjusted) bonds. For more information, visit the TreasuryDirect website (www.treasurydirect.gov).

#### What are Treasury bills?

Treasury bills (or T-bills) are short-term securities that mature in one year or less from their issue date. T-bills are sold at a discount from their face (or par) value. You make money because you are paid the full face value at maturity. Your profit is the difference between the purchase price and the face value. If you buy a \$10,000 26-week T-bill for \$9,750 and hold it for the full 26 weeks, your profit will be \$250, a gain of about 2.5%. (T-bill rates fluctuate, so when you go to buy a bill you'll pay current rates.) You can purchase Treasury bills and find current and historical rates online at the TreasuryDirect website (www.treasurydirect.gov).

#### Saving for retirement

#### What is an individual retirement account (IRA)?

Individual retirement accounts are savings accounts designed to help people put away money for their retirement. IRAs give account holders a break on income taxes. There are two kinds of IRA: traditional and Roth.

#### Where can I establish an IRA?

Federal regulations require that an IRA be managed by a custodian or trustee. Custodians include banks, credit unions, savings and loan associations, insurance companies, mutual funds and investment brokers.

#### What are the guidelines for traditional IRAs?

For tax year 2013, you can contribute up to \$5,500 of earned

income if you are under 50 years old. If you are 50 or older by the end of 2013, you can contribute up to \$6,500. If your employer offers a retirement plan, your tax deduction for contributions to a traditional IRA is reduced at higher incomes. You will not owe income taxes on your contributions or investment earnings until withdrawal, usually after you are 59 1/2. By age 70 1/2 you are required to begin taking distributions from your traditional IRA. There are tax penalties for early withdrawal. Contribution limits increase regularly. For current information on IRAs, visit the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) website (www.irs.gov) and select Publication 590, Individual Retirement Arrangements (IRAs).

#### What are the rules for Roth IRAs?

Roth IRAs are not tax-deductible; the benefit of a Roth IRA is that all the earnings on your contributions are tax-free rather than simply tax-deferred. Withdrawals are not subject to federal income tax if the account is at least five years old and you are over age 59 1/2 or disabled. You may make withdrawals at a younger age without being disabled if you are using the money for qualified first-time homebuyer expenses. Unlike with a traditional IRA, you are not ever required to take distributions from your Roth IRA (you can pass it on to your heirs). The annual contribution limits are the same as for traditional IRAs (see above). However, to make the full contribution, your modified adjusted gross income must be within certain limits. For current information on IRAs, visit the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) website (www.irs.gov) and select Publication 590, Individual Retirement Arrangements (IRAs).

#### Can older people contribute more to an IRA?

Yes. For tax year 2013, you can contribute \$6,500 if you are over 50.

#### Why should I participate in my employer's retirement plan?

Employer-sponsored plans usually offer to match your contributions up to a certain limit, which means that by investing some of your own pre-tax money, you will have the added benefit of your employer's contributions. Some employees avoid participating in a 401(k) or 403(b) (for non-profit employees) plan because contributions will reduce the amount of their take-home pay. They do not realize that they can maximize their retirement savings by taking advantage of their employer's matching funds. These plans also typically offer a high level of professional investment management advice that you might not be able to afford on your own. After a specified number of months or years with the company you will be "fully vested" and will own the company's contributions to your retirement fund. Also, at tax time, you will owe less money because the portion of your salary that you contributed to your employer's retirement plan is not taxable.

#### Saving for education

#### What is a 529 plan?

529 plans, named for Section 529 of the Internal Revenue Code, are state-sponsored education savings plans designed to help families set aside funds for future college costs. Every state now has at least one 529 plan available. Your investment grows tax-deferred, and distributions to pay for your children's college costs are not subject to federal income tax. Educational institutions also can offer 529 prepaid plans, which allow you to purchase tuition credits at today's rates for use in the future. You are not limited to opening a 529 plan in the state you live. On the Internet, visit www.savingforcollege. com to find and compare plans.

#### What is a Coverdell education savings account?

A Coverdell education account is a special savings account that parents (or others) establish on behalf of children to cover tuition, room, board, books and other eligible educational expenses at elementary and high schools and colleges. Withdrawals are tax-free when used for qualified education expenses. Deposits are subject to annual limits and contributors are subject to maximum income guidelines. Contributions are allowed each year until the child is 18, with exceptions for students with special needs.

#### What is a "Uniform Transfer/Gift to Minors Act" account?

This is a custodial account in a child's name. All contributions are irrevocable gifts to the child. Donors can contribute up to \$14,000 per year each without paying federal gift tax. When the children reach age 18 or 21, depending on the state, they are in control of the funds and can use them for education or anything else. No conditions can be placed on the use of the funds. The income earned on the account might be taxed at a lower rate than your own, depending on your tax bracket. It is wise to consult a tax advisor before setting up a Uniform Transfer/Gift to Minors Act (UTMA or UGMA) account.

#### Can IRAs and Roth IRAs be used for education expenses?

Withdrawals to cover education expenses can be taken without penalty from traditional and Roth IRAs. The money must be used to pay tuition or other allowable education expenses at qualified post-secondary institutions on behalf of only the account owner (yourself), your spouse, your children or your grandchildren.

#### **Investment risks and rewards**

#### What is an investment?

An investment is the use of money to create more money. The money you have to invest is called "capital." Investments include stocks and mutual funds, bonds and annuities (a form of investment sold by insurance companies), real estate and other types. The value of these investments fluctuates (goes up and down), but they offer a reasonable chance of making money in the long term (a few years or more). If you have to sell investments in a hurry because of an emergency or an unforeseen expense, you could get less than you paid for them.

#### Where can I buy investments?

Today, banks offer a wide range of financial services, including investment sales. You can also buy investments from brokerage houses and mutual fund companies. Like banks, these institutions typically offer a wide range of financial services, including savings and investment plans. Some brokerage accounts are insured, others are not.

#### What is "investment risk"?

Everyone would like to earn the highest possible return on their money, but as the potential return goes higher, so does the risk that you might lose your money. Savings accounts and bank CDs that are insured by the FDIC offer a smaller return than other types of investments because they are safer. In contrast, stocks, bonds and mutual funds are not insured and, historically, have earned more in the long run. When you buy stocks, bonds and mutual funds, you accept the risk that these investments might go down in value.

## Is there any way around the minimum deposit requirements of most mutual funds?

Yes. Many mutual fund companies waive the minimum deposit requirement if you agree to have a set amount (as little as \$50) automatically transferred from your checking account each month.

#### What questions should I ask when considering an investment?

It's important to ask about potential returns, risk and liquidity (or how easy it is to get your money when you need it). It is unlikely that you will find a single investment that gives you the best of all three: high returns, low risk and ease of access. For example, your savings account at a local bank is easy to access and very secure but offers very low returns (interest). Stocks offer a potentially higher return but are also riskier because if you need to sell in a hurry you might find that the share price at that time is lower than what you paid.

#### What are equities?

Equities are stocks. When you buy stock, you become a partial owner of the company. Stockholders make money through dividend payments and the sale of stock that has risen in value. Dividends are income distributions to shareholders, usually paid quarterly. Not all stocks pay dividends. There is no guarantee that stock prices will go up or that you will make money on them. Before investing your money, find out about the company's business, financial performance and management. Do not blindly follow anyone's advice about stocks without checking them out yourself.

#### What are bonds?

When you buy bonds, you are lending money to a federal or state agency, municipality or corporation. The issuer pays you interest for a certain number of months or years until the bond comes due. (The end of a bond's term is known as its maturity.) The interest paid by a bond is based on the issuer's creditworthiness as well as current interest rate trends. Issuers with good credit are rated higher and they pay a lower interest rate. Bonds issued by companies with poor credit are called "junk" bonds. Junk bonds are very risky but pay more interest, which is why another name for them is high-yield bonds.

#### What is a mutual fund?

Mutual funds are portfolios of stocks, bonds and other investments in which the public may purchase shares. Each investor shares in the fund's gains, losses and expenses.

#### What is your net worth?

Use this form to find your approximate net worth.

Assets		
Cash		
Savings and checking accounts		
Stocks, bonds and other investments		
401(k) or IRA retirement plans		
Market value of home		
Market value of car		
Other assets		
Total assets	\$	
Liabilities		
Home mortgages	-	
Car loan balance		
Credit card balances		
Student loans		
Child support		
Miscellaneous liabilities		
Total liabilities	\$	
Subtract "Total liabilities" from "Total assets".		
My net worth is:		

#### Learn more

**America Saves** (www.americasaves.org) is a national campaign to encourage individuals and families to save and build wealth. It is managed by the Consumer Federation of America.

**Bankrate** (www.bankrate.com) provides current rates for CDs and money market accounts.

**Choose to Save** (www.choosetosave.org) offers information on personal finance and wealth development, including credit management, college savings, buying a home and retirement planning.

**Prosperity Now** (www.prosperitynow.org/map/idas) has an online directory of individual development account (IDA) programs nationwide.

The Credit Union National Association (www.asmarterchoice.org) can help you locate a credit union to join.

**TreasuryDirect** (www.treasurydirect.gov) is a federal government site that provides information on savings bonds and Treasury bills.

#### More money management materials

Free multilingual publications on the following topics are available through our Managing Money website:

- Banking Basics
- Elder Fraud
- Good Credit
- ❖ ID Theft and Account Fraud
- Keys to Homeownership
- ❖ Micro Business
- ❖ Personal Bankruptcy
- \* Rebuilding Good Credit
- Saving to Build Wealth
- Successful Homeownership
- ❖ Teens and Money
- **❖ Tracking Your Money**

These publications are available in Chinese, English, Korean, Spanish and Vietnamese. All topics include a Leader's Guide (in English only) similar to the one you are now reading, step-by-step training guides and PowerPoint slides.

All publications are available online at www.managing-money.org.

Please call Consumer Action at 800-999-7981 for order forms or additional information about Consumer Action's personal finance and consumer education materials.



#### **Consumer Action**

www.consumer-action.org

Contact our Hotline: https://complaints.consumer-action.org/forms/english-form

415-777-9635 Chinese, English and Spanish spoken

consumeraction